Development Y
Control

Public Document Pack

7N
PR

St Edmundsbury

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Committee

Title: Agenda

Date: Thursday 4 January 2018
Time: 10.00 am

Venue: Conference Chamber

West Suffolk House
Western Way
Bury St Edmunds

IP33 3YU
Full Members: Chairman Jim Thorndyke
Vice Chairman Carol Bull and David Roach
Conservative Terry Clements Ivor Mclatchy

Members (12) Robert Everitt Alaric Pugh

Paula Fox Andrew Smith
Susan Glossop Peter Stevens
Ian Houlder

Charter Group David Nettleton Julia Wakelam

Members (2)

UKIP Group
Member (1)

Haverhill Indys
Member (1)

Jason Crooks

John Burns

Substitutes:

Conservative
Members (5)

Charter Group
Member (1)

UKIP Group
Member (1)

Haverhill Indys
Member (1)

Awaiting nominations from the Group

Diane Hind

Barry Robbins

Tony Brown

** THERE ARE NO SITE VISITS REQUIRED FOR THIS AGENDA **

Interests -

Declaration and

Restriction on
Participation:

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any
disclosable pecuniary interest not entered in the Authority's
register or local non pecuniary interest which they have in any
item of business on the agenda (subject to the exception for
sensitive information) and to leave the meeting prior to
discussion and voting on an item in which they have a
disclosable pecuniary interest.

Quorum:

Six Members




Committee Helen Hardinge

administrator: Democratic Services Officer

Tel: 01638 719363

Email: helen.hardinge@westsuffolk.gov.uk




DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE:

Forest Heath « St Edmundsbury

West S uﬁoﬁ‘(

working together

AGENDA NOTES

Subject to the provisions of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985,
all the files itemised in this Schedule, together with the consultation replies,
documents and letters referred to (which form the background papers) are available
for public inspection.

All applications and other matters have been considered having regard to the Human
Rights Act 1998 and the rights which it guarantees.

Material Planning Considerations

1. It must be noted that when considering planning applications (and related
matters) only relevant planning considerations can be taken into account.
Councillors and their Officers must adhere to this important principle
which is set out in legislation and Central Government Guidance.

2. Material Planning Considerations include:

Statutory provisions contained in Planning Acts and Statutory regulations and
Planning Case Law

Central Government planning policy and advice as contained in Circulars and
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

The following Planning Local Plan Documents

Forest Heath District Council St Edmundsbury Borough Council

Forest Heath Local Plan 1995 St Edmundsbury Borough Local Plan

1998 and the Replacement St
Edmundsbury Borough Local Plan 2016

The Forest Heath Core Strategy 2010, St Edmundsbury Borough Council Core
as amended by the High Court Order Strategy 2010

(2011)
Joint Development Management Joint Development Management Policies
Policies 2015 2015

Vision 2031 (2014)

Emerging Policy documents

Core Strategy - Single Issue review

Site Specific Allocations

Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents eg. Affordable Housing SPD
Master Plans, Development Briefs

Site specific issues such as availability of infrastructure, density, car parking
Environmental; effects such as effect on light, noise overlooking, effect on
street scene

The need to preserve or enhance the special character or appearance of
desighated Conservation Areas and protect Listed Buildings

Previous planning decisions, including appeal decisions

Desire to retain and promote certain uses e.g. stables in Newmarket.



3. The following are not Material Planning Considerations_and such matters must not
be taken into account when determining planning applications and related matters:
e Moral and religious issues

Competition (unless in relation to adverse effects on a town centre as a whole)

Breach of private covenants or other private property / access rights

Devaluation of property

Protection of a private view

Council interests such as land ownership or contractual issues

Identity or motives of an applicant or occupier

4. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that an
application for planning permission must be determined in accordance with the
Development Plan (see table above) unless material planning considerations
indicate otherwise.

5. A key role of the planning system is to enable the provision of homes, buildings
and jobs in a way that is consistent with the principles of sustainable development.
It needs to be positive in promoting competition while being protective towards the
environment and amenity. The policies that underpin the planning system both
nationally and locally seek to balance these aims.

Documentation Received after the Distribution of Committee Papers

Any papers, including plans and photographs, received relating to items on this
Development Control Committee agenda, but which are received after the agenda has
been circulated will be subject to the following arrangements:

(a)  Officers will prepare a single Committee Update Report summarising all
representations that have been received up to 5pm on the Thursday before
each Committee meeting. This report will identify each application and what
representations, if any, have been received in the same way as representations
are reported within the Committee report;

(b)  the Update Report will be sent out to Members by first class post and
electronically by noon on the Friday before the Committee meeting and will be
placed on the website next to the Committee report.

Any late representations received after 5pm on the Thursday before the Committee
meeting will not be distributed but will be reported orally by officers at the meeting.

Public Speaking

Members of the public have the right to speak at the Development Control Committee,
subject to certain restrictions. Further information is available on the Councils’
websites.



Forest Heath « St Edmundsbury

West SuﬁoTIE

working together

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE:
DECISION MAKING PROTOCOL

The Development Control Committee usually sits once a month. The meeting is open
to the general public and there are opportunities for members of the public to speak
to the Committee prior to the debate.

Decision Making Protocol
This protocol sets out our normal practice for decision making on development control
applications at Development Control Committee. It covers those circumstances where
the officer recommendation for approval or refusal is to be deferred, altered or
overturned. The protocol is based on the desirability of clarity and consistency in
decision making and of minimising financial and reputational risk, and requires
decisions to be based on material planning considerations and that conditions meet
the tests of Circular 11/95: "The Use of Conditions in Planning Permissions." This
protocol recognises and accepts that, on occasions, it may be advisable or necessary
to defer determination of an application or for a recommendation to be amended and
consequently for conditions or refusal reasons to be added, deleted or altered in any
one of the circumstances below.
e« Where an application is to be deferred, to facilitate further information or
negotiation or at an applicant's request.
e« Where a recommendation is to be altered as the result of consultation or
negotiation:

o The presenting Officer will clearly state the condition and its reason or
the refusal reason to be added/deleted/altered, together with the
material planning basis for that change.

o In making any proposal to accept the Officer recommendation, a Member
will clearly state whether the amended recommendation is proposed as
stated, or whether the original recommendation in the agenda papers is
proposed.

e Where a Member wishes to alter a recommendation:

o In making a proposal, the Member will clearly state the condition and its
reason or the refusal reason to be added/deleted/altered, together with
the material planning basis for that change.

o In the interest of clarity and accuracy and for the minutes, the presenting
officer will restate the amendment before the final vote is taken.

o Members can choose to;

= delegate the detailed wording and reason to the Assistant Director
(Planning and Regulatory);

» delegate the detailed wording and reason to the Assistant Director
(Planning and Regulatory) following consultation with the Chair
and Vice Chair(s) of Development Control Committee.

e Where Development Control Committee wishes to overturn a recommendation
and the decision is considered to be significant in terms of overall impact; harm
to the planning policy framework, having sought advice from the Assistant
Director (Planning and Regulatory) and the Assistant Director (Human
Resources, Legal and Democratic) (or Officers attending Committee on their
behalf);

o A final decision on the application will be deferred to allow associated
risks to be clarified and conditions/refusal reasons to be properly drafted.



o An additional officer report will be prepared and presented to the next
Development Control Committee detailing the likely policy, financial and
reputational etc risks resultant from overturning a recommendation, and
also setting out the likely conditions (with reasons) or refusal reasons.
This report should follow the Council’s standard risk assessment practice
and content.

o In making a decision to overturn a recommendation, Members will clearly
state the material planning reason(s) why an alternative decision is being
made, and which will be minuted for clarity.

e In all other cases, where Development Control Committee wishes to overturn a
recommendation:

o Members will clearly state the material planning reason(s) why an
alternative decision is being made, and which will be minuted for clarity.

o In making a proposal, the Member will clearly state the condition and its
reason or the refusal reason to be added/deleted/altered, together with
the material planning basis for that change.

o Members can choose to;

» delegate the detailed wording and reason to the Assistant Director
(Planning and Regulatory)

» delegate the detailed wording and reason to the Assistant Director
(Planning and Regulatory) following consultation with the Chair
and Vice Chair(s) of Development Control Committee

¢ Member Training

o In order to ensure robust decision-making all members of Development
Control Committee are required to attend annual Development Control
training.

Notes

Planning Services (Development Control) maintains a catalogue of 'standard
conditions' for use in determining applications and seeks to comply with Circular
11/95 "The Use of Conditions in Planning Permissions."

Members/Officers should have proper regard to probity considerations and relevant
codes of conduct and best practice when considering and determining applications.



Agenda

Procedural Matters

Part 1 - Public

Apologies for Absence Page No

Substitutes

Any Member who is substituting for another Member should so
indicate together with the name of the relevant absent Member.

Minutes 1-14
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 7 December 2017

(copy attached).

Planning Application DC/17/2200/HH - Welham Cottage, 15- 24

Ingham Road, Culford
Report No: DEV/SE/18/001

Householder Planning Application - (i) Conversion of timber
framed garage/workshop and first floor office into a residential
annexe ancillary to the main dwelling (ii) including addition of
pitched roof to rear and porch to front elevation



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 3

Development N

7N
B &

Control Committee s siwndiny

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Minutes of a meeting of the Development Control Committee held on
Thursday 7 December 2017 at 10.00 am at the Conference Chamber,
West Suffolk House, Western Way, Bury St Edmunds IP33 3YU

Present: Councillors

Chairman Jim Thorndyke
Vice Chairman Carol Bull and David Roach

John Burns Alaric Pugh

Jason Crooks Andrew Smith
Susan Glossop Peter Stevens
Ian Houlder Julia Wakelam

David Nettleton

352. Apologies for Absence

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Terry Clements, Robert
Everitt, Paula Fox and Ivor MclLatchy.

353. Substitutes
No substitutes were declared at the meeting.
354. Minutes

The Chairman drew attention to the two sets of minutes attached to the
agenda for Members’ consideration:

2 November 2017 (Special Meeting):

The minutes of the Special Development Control Committee meeting held on
2 November 2017 at 10.00 am were confirmed as a correct record and were
signed by the Chairman

2 November 2017:

The minutes of the meeting held on 2 November 2017 at 2.00 pm were
confirmed as a correct record and were signed by the Chairman.

Page 1



355.

(At this point there was a short unintentional adjournment as the
presentation equipment had failed. A member of staff attended to resolve the
issue and the meeting reconvened).

Planning Application DC/17/1765/RM - Western Part of the Suffolk
Business Park Extension, Bury St Edmunds

Reserved Matters Application - Submission of details under
DC/16/2825/0UT - the means of appearance, layout, scale and
landscaping for 2no. industrial/logistics buildings (B8 with ancillary
Bla offices), together with associated car parking, service yard and
landscaping as amended by plans and details received.

The application had been referred to the Development Control Committee
because the Council had a financial interest in the land.

The Reserved Matters application sought consent for layout, scale and
appearance and on plot landscaping. The application also sought consent for
two large storage and distribution buildings (B8) that would have ancillary B1
offices to serve the principle B8 use, with car parking, cycle storage, yard
space and Heavy Goods Vehicle (HGV) parking, turning and unloading areas.
The description of the two buildings were listed in paragraph 2 and 3 of the
report.

The two proposed units would operate in isolation from each other and would
be served by separate accesses which were approved as part of the new
internal road that was being constructed. Each unit would have an entrance
for the main car park and pedestrian access and there would be a separate
entrance for HGV vehicles.

The application had been amended since submission as outlined in paragraph
5 of the report.

Representations had been received from Bury St Edmunds Town Council and
Rushbrooke with Rougham Parish Council who were both in support of the
application.

Speakers: Mr Neil Osborne (Agent) spoke in support of the application.

Members commended the Case Officer for producing a clear and high quality
report.

Given that the application was considered a signature development along the
Al14 that would showcase the entire business park, it was suggested that
Members would have liked to have seen elevations that would be visible from
the A14 in order to obtain an understanding of what it would look like from
the view of travelling down the highway.

Whilst Members’ were generally in support of the application, the following
concerns were raised:

e The applicant had submitted a Building Research Establishment

Environmental Assessment Method (BREEAM) statement and achieved

Page 2



a standard of ‘Very Good’, however Members would have liked to have
seen a standard of ‘Excellent’” achieved.

e The amount of light pollution that was generally produced from
industrial estates.

e The amount of on-site parking available to manage the loading and
unloading of multiple HGVs to ensure that they do not have to park off-
site.

The case officer responded to the comments and concerns raised:

e The achievement of ‘Excellent’ for the BREEAM statement was deemed
as unrealistic by the applicant due to the speculative nature of the
proposal and other factors outside of their control. The developer had
proposed that they would include other enhancements included in the
BREEAM statement.

¢ An environmental statement was submitted at the application’s outline
stage that included conditions that future occupiers of the site would
have to comply with to reduce the impact of light pollution.

e A sufficient amount of on-site parking had been provided for HGVs as
well as electrical charging points that would allow the vehicles to be
loaded and unloaded without having to have the engine switched on.

e A 30 metre landscape buffer had been included in the application to
soften the visual impact of the development from the A14.

One Member queried whether there would be a sufficient amount of on-site
facilities available for HGV drivers to which the Case Officer explained that the
internal layout was yet to be confirmed, however they would raise the point
with the developer in an effort to ensure that these would be provided.

Councillor Peter Stevens proposed that the application be approved, as per
the Officer recommendation, and this was duly seconded by Councillor David
Nettleton.

Upon being put to the vote, and with the vote being unanimous, it was
resolved that

Decision
Planning permission be APPROVED subject to the following conditions:

List of approved plans

Building SP205 to be limited to a gross floor area of 19,122m?

Building SP150 to be limited to a gross floor area of 13,617m?

Details of the internal layout for building SP205 to be submitted and

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority (LPA) before the

building is first brought into operation. The approved details shall be
implemented.

5. Details of the internal layout for building SP150 to be submitted and
approved in writing by the LPA before the building is first brought into
operation. The approved details shall be implemented.

6. No storage of materials or waste shall occur on land north of the front

elevation (car park) of either building hereby approved unless

otherwise agreed in writing with the LPA.

PN

Page 3



7. Details of the finished floor level of the yard area, including the
gradients for the docking areas shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the LPA before building SP205 is first brought into operation.
The approved details shall be implemented.

8. Details of the finished floor level of the yard area including the
gradients for the docking areas shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the LPA before building SP150 is first brought into operation.

9. Details of all fences, gates and walls as shown on the submitted details
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA before the
building SP205 is first brought into operation. The agreed details shall
be implemented.

10.Details of all fences, gates and walls as shown on the submitted details
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA before the
building SP150 is first brought into operation. The agreed details shall
be implemented.

11.Prior to either building being first brought into use, details of two cycle
stands that will serve each unit hereby approved (four in total) that will
be available to visitors shall be submitted to and approved in writing.
The agreed details shall be implemented before the building they serve
is first brought into use.

12.Details of the external materials to be used on building SP150 shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA prior to development
commencing on site. The approved details shall be implemented.

13.Details of the external materials to be used on building SP205 shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA prior to development
commencing on site. The approved details shall be implemented.

14.A certificate of demonstrating that building SP150 has gained a
BREEAM 'Very Good’ status to be submitted.

15.A certificate of demonstrating that building SP205 has gained a
BREEAM 'Very Good’ status to be submitted.

16.Landscape details hereby approved to be implemented within the first
planting season after building SP205 is first brought into use.

17.Landscape details hereby approved to be implemented within the first
planting season after building SP150 is first brought into use.

18.The hereby approved tree protection fencing shall be implemented
prior to construction starting on either building hereby approved or at
such time that shall be previously approved in writing by the LPA.

19.The measures detailed in section 4 of the Biodiversity Survey, James
Blake November 2017, JBA16_181 ECO 13, shall be implemented in
their entirety.

20.The aftercare and management plan, which includes management
prescription for the landscaping, shall be implemented.

21.Parking, manoeuvring and unloading areas to be made available for
building SP205 before the building is first brought into use.

22.Parking, manoeuvring and unloading areas to be made available for
building SP150 before the building is first brought into use.

Page 4



356.

Planning Application DC/17/1047/0UT - Former Howard Community
Primary School, St Olaves Road, Bury St Edmunds

Outline Planning Application (Means of Access to be considered) -
Redevelopment of site to provide up to a maximum 79 no. residential
units (Class C3) and a new community centre also incorporating a
replacement Carousel Children’s Centre (Class D1) with associated
parking, open space, landscaping and infrastructure.

The application was referred to the Development Control Committee because
St Edmundsbury Borough Council were one of the applicants and owned part
of the site.

The application site included the former Howard Community Primary School
and the Newbury Community Centre. The school had closed in August 2016
as part of the wider implementation of Suffolk County Council’'s School
Organisation Review and became surplus to education requirements as the
children had been transferred to the larger Howard Middle School site. The
site had been earmarked by Suffolk County Council for residential
development that would help forward-fund the implementation of other
essential education projects in the County and improve the quality of
infrastructure and meeting an increased demand for places.

The Newbury Community Association had a longstanding objective to rebuild
the adjoining Newbury Community Centre to overcome the deficiencies of the
existing building and provide a range of flexible meeting space that was
better suited to meeting current demand and would enable a greater range of
activities and services to be offered.

The application had been amended to increase the maximum quantum of
development from 70 dwellings to 79 dwellings, 30% of which would be
classed as affordable housing.

Attention was drawn to the supplementary report that had been circulated in
respect of this item which corrected a typo in paragraph 26 of the report and
included an amendment to the Officer’s recommendation.

In addition to the supplementary report, the Case Officer informed Members
of the following amendments that had also been made to the report:

e Reference to the replacement of the community centre in paragraph 64
of the report had been removed;

e Proposed condition two on page 52 of the report;- for clarification the
reserved matters listed were in relation to the community centre and
nursery building;

e Additional conditions were proposed related to vehicular access,
surface treatments and phasing the construction of the community
centre and nursery building.

Representations had been received from two local residents who were in
support of the application, however did raise concerns related to potential
noise and light disturbance from the proposed community centre. A request
was also made to install lockable gates on the car park entrance.

Page 5



Speakers: Mr Colin Ross (Agent) spoke in support of the application.

Members commended the scheme presented before them and stated that
they would like to ensure that if approved, the developer would deliver no
less, in terms of quality and the quantum of affordable housing, than what
was proposed in the application. The Case Officer confirmed that planning
conditions and the Section 106 agreement would secure what had been
proposed in the application.

In response to a Member’'s query, the Case Officer explained that the
replacement Carousel Children’s Centre would be incorporated within phase
one of the replacement Community Centre building.

A concern was raised in relation to the proposed vehicular access point
located at the Eagle Walk end of the development as a Member considered it
unsafe due to the reduced visibility associated with being located on a sharp
bend. It was suggested by the Member that the vehicular access point could
be re-located towards the centre of the proposed development where visibility
would be improved and a raised pedestrian crossing would already be in
place. It was acknowledged that the location of the car park within the layout
could be reviewed at reserved matters stage but it was made clear that the
location of the access points formed part of the consideration of the current
outline application and Suffolk County Council as the Highways Authority had
raised no objections to the application in terms of highway safety.

It was suggested by one Member that at the reserved matters stage of the
application the developer could consider installing a sprinkler system in the
proposed community centre building as a fire safety feature.

Councillor Julia Wakelam proposed that the application be approved, as per
the amended Officer recommendation, and this was duly seconded by
Councillor Alaric Pugh.

Upon being put to the vote and with the vote being unanimous, it was
resolved that

Decision

Planning permission be APPROVED as per the amended Officer
recommendation of approval subject to Officers’ agreeing the final
wording/variation of the Section 106 Legal Agreement under delegated
authority to secure financial contributions towards enhanced education and
library provisions, improvements to existing playing fields in the area, and the
provision of 30% affordable housing. This would be subject to the following
conditions:

1. Application for the approval of the matters reserved by conditions of
this permission shall be made to the Local Planning Authority (LPA)
before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
The development hereby permitted shall not be begun not later than
whichever is the latest of the following dates:-

i The expiration of three years from the date of this
permission; or

Page 6



ii. The expiration of two years from the final approval of the
reserved matters; or,

iii. In the case of approval on different dates, the final
approval of the last such matter to be approved.

2. Details of the appearance, landscaping, layout, and scale, (hereinafter
called ‘the reserved matters’) shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the LPA before any development begins and the
development shall be carried out as approved.

3. No development shall commence beyond slab level until samples of the
facing and roofing materials to be used have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the LPA.

4. Prior to the commencement of development application details of a
surface water drainage scheme will be submitted to, and agreed in
writing by, the LPA. The scheme shall be implemented and thereafter
managed and maintained in accordance with the approved outline
drainage strategy by Rossi Long Consulting (ref:- SK02 Rev P3 dated
03/08/17). Details of the scheme will include:

i Details of further infiltration testing on site in accordance
with BRE 365 to verify the permeability of the site (trial
pits to be located where soakaways are proposed and
repeated runs for each trial hole). Borehole records should
also be submitted in support of soakage testing.

ii. Dimensioned drawings of the main aspects of surface
water drainage system (including an impermeable area
plan).

iii. Modelling results (or similar method) to demonstrate that
the infiltration device has been adequately sized to contain
the critical 100yr+CC event for the catchment area they
serve. Each device should be designed using the nearest
tested infiltration rate to which they are located. A
suitable factor of safety should be applied to the
infiltration rate during design.

iv. Infiltration devices shall only be used where they do not
pose a threat to groundwater. There shall be at least 1.2
metres of unsaturated ground between the base of the
device and the groundwater table.

V. Proposals for water quality control - Demonstration of
adequate treatment for surface water shall be submitted.
SuDS features should demonstrate betterment to water
quality due to the site being in a Source Protection Zone.

Vi. If individual soakaways are being used they will be at
least five metres away from any foundation (or more
depending on strata).

vii. Infiltration devices should aim to have a half drain time of
less than 24 hours.
viii. Modelling of any pipe network in the one in 30 year

rainfall event to show no above ground flooding.

iX. Topographic plans shall be submitted depicting all safe
exceedance flow paths in case of a blockage within the
main SW system and/or flows in excess of a one in 100
year rainfall event. These flow paths will demonstrate that
the risks to people and property are kept to a minimum.

Page 7



X. A management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of
the development which shall include the arrangements for
adoption by any public body or statutory undertaker, or
any other arrangements to secure the operation of the
sustainable drainage system throughout its lifetime.

Xi. Arrangements to enable any surface water drainage within
any private properties to be accessible and maintained
including information and advice on responsibilities to be
supplied to future owners.

5. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until details of
all Sustainable Urban Drainage System components and piped
networks have been submitted, in an approved form, to and approved
in writing by the LPA for inclusion on the Lead Local Flood Authority’s
Flood Risk Asset Register.

6. No development shall commence until details of a construction surface
water management plan detailing how surface water and storm water
will be managed on the site during construction is submitted to and
agreed in writing by the LPA. The construction surface water
management plan shall be implemented and thereafter managed and
maintained in accordance with the approved plan.

7. No development approved by this planning permission shall commence
until the following components to deal with the risks associated with
contamination of the site shall each be submitted to and approved, in
writing, by the LPA:

i. A site investigation scheme (based on the approved Preliminary
Risk Assessment (PRA) within the approved Desk Study), to
provide information for a detailed assessment of the risk to
all receptors that may be affected, including those off-site.

ii. The results of a site investigation based on i. and a detailed risk
assessment, including a revised Conceptual Site Model
(CSM).

iii. Based on the risk assessment in ii., an options appraisal and
remediation strategy giving full details of the remediation
measures required and how they are to be undertaken. The
strategy shall include a plan providing details of how the
remediation works shall be judged to be complete and
arrangements for contingency actions. The plan shall also
detail a long term monitoring and maintenance plan as
necessary.

No occupation of any part of the permitted development shall take
place until a verification report demonstrating completion of works
set out in the remediation strategy in iii. is submitted and approved,
in writing, by the LPA. The long term monitoring and maintenance
plan in iii. shall be updated and be implemented as approved.

If, during development, contamination not previously identified is
found to be present at the site then no further development (unless
otherwise agreed in writing with the local planning authority) shall
be carried out until the developer has submitted a remediation
strategy to the local planning authority detailing how this
unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with and obtained written

Page 8



8.

o.

10.

11.

12.

13.

approval from the local planning authority. The remediation strategy
shall be implemented as approved.
Before any part of the development is occupied details of the areas to
be provided for storage and presentation of Refuse/Recycling bins shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA. The approved
scheme shall be carried out in its entirety before the development is
brought into use and shall be retained thereafter for no other purpose.
Before the development is commenced details shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the LPA showing the means to prevent the
discharge of surface water from the development into the highway. The
approved scheme shall be carried out in its entirety before the access is
first used and shall be retained thereafter in its approved form.
No dwelling shall be occupied until the carriageways and footways
serving that dwelling have been constructed to at least Binder course
level or better in accordance with the approved details except with the
written agreement of the LPA.
All HGV and construction traffic movements to and from the site over
the duration of the construction period shall be subject to a Deliveries
Management Plan which shall be submitted to the planning authority
for approval a minimum of 28 days before any deliveries of materials
commence. No HGV movements shall be permitted to and from the site
other than in accordance with the routes defined in the Plan. The site
operator shall maintain a register of complaints and record of actions
taken to deal with such complaints at the site office as specified in the
plan throughout the period of occupation of the site.
Before the access is first used clear visibility at a height of 0.6 metres
above the carriageway level shall be provided and thereafter
permanently maintained in that area between the nearside edge of the
metalled carriageway and a line 2.4 metres from the nearside edge of
the metalled carriageway at the centre line of the access point (X
dimension) and a distance of 43 metres in each direction along the
edge of the metalled carriageway from the centre of the access (Y
dimension). Notwithstanding the provisions of part two class A of the
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order
1995 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or
without modification) no obstruction over 0.6 metres high shall be
erected, constructed, planted or permitted to grow within the areas of
the visibility splays.
No development shall take place within the area indicated (the whole
site) until the implementation of a programme of archaeological work
has been secured, in accordance with a Written Scheme of
Investigation which has been submitted to and approved in writing by
the LPA. The scheme of investigation shall include an assessment of
significance and research questions; and:
i. The programme and methodology of site investigation and
recording
ii. The programme for post investigation assessment
iii. Provision to be made for analysis of the site investigation
and recording
iv. Provision to be made for publication and dissemination of
the analysis and records of the site investigation
v. Provision to be made for archive deposition of the analysis
and records of the site investigation

Page 9



357.

vi. Nomination of a competent person or
persons/organisation to undertake the works set out
within the Written Scheme of Investigation

vii. The site investigation shall be completed prior to
development, or in such other phased arrangement, as
agreed and approved in writing by the LPA.

14.No building shall be occupied until the site investigation and post
investigation assessment has been completed, submitted to, and
approved in writing by the LPA, in accordance with the programme set
out in the Written Scheme of Investigation approved under condition
one and the provision made for analysis, publication and dissemination
of results and archive deposition.

15.Each dwelling proposed with dedicated off-street parking shall be
provided with an electric vehicle charge equipment charge point prior
to its first occupation. Details of the electric vehicle charge equipment
to be installed at the site shall have first been agreed in writing with
the LPA. All charge points shall be provided within at least two metres
of the associated designated parking space.

16.The new vehicular accesses shall be laid out and completed in all
respects in accordance with Drawing No. HBS-DR-A001 Rev. P4; and
with an entrance width as shown and made available for use before the
development is commenced. Thereafter the access shall be retained in
the specified form.

17.Prior to the access hereby permitted being first used, the approved
access onto St Olaves Road shall be properly surfaced with a bound
material for a minimum distance of 10m metres from the edge of the
metalled carriageway, in accordance with details previously submitted
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.

18.Prior to the demolition of the existing community centre building and
Carousel Children’s Centre building, the replacement Community
Centre hereby approved shall be completed and ready for occupation.

Planning Application DC/17/2237/HH - Tamarisk, 4 Barrow Hill,
Barrow

Householder Planning Application - (i) Single storey side extension
including attached garage (demolition of existing garage) and (ii)
replacement of existing flat roof over rear extension with pitched
roof.

(Councillor Ian Houlder declared a non-pecuniary interest as his daughter
owned the property next door to the site. He remained in the meeting for the
consideration of this item).

The application had been referred to the Development Control Committee
because the applicant was an employee of St Edmundsbury Borough Council.

The application sought planning permission for the construction of a single
storey side extension including attached garage, following the demolition of
existing garage and the replacement of existing flat roof over single storey
rear extension with a pitched roof. The proposed single storey side extension

Page 10



358.

would extend 5.5 metres from the side elevation of the existing dwelling and
measure a maximum of 13.7 metres in length and 5.4 metres in height.

A query was raised as to whether the Council had any policy in place that
stipulated that the height of an extension had to be subservient to the ridge
height of the host property. The Service Manager (Planning - Development)
confirmed that usually it was preferable for an extension to be subservient to
the host property, however for this particular application it was considered
acceptable by Officer’s that the ridge height of the proposed extension would
be level to that of the host property, particularly given the modest scale of
the host dwelling.

One Member was particularly concerned about the extension of the bungalow
when there was already a shortage of smaller bungalows suitable for older
residents in the Borough. In response to this Members stated that the
application should be determined on its own merit and it was considered that
the proposal would significantly improve the design and quality of the existing
property.

Councillor David Nettleton proposed that the application be approved, as per
the Officer recommendation, and this was duly seconded by Councillor Peter
Stevens.

Upon being put to the vote, and with the vote being unanimous, it was
resolved that

Decision
Planning permission be APPROVED subject to the following conditions:

1. Time limit
2. Compliance with plans

Planning Application DC/15/2151/0UT - Great Wilsey Park, Little
Wratting

Outline Application (Means of Access to be considered) - Residential
development of up to 2,500 units (within use classes C2/C3); two
primary schools; two local centres including retail, community and
employment uses (with use classes A1/A2/A3/A4/A5, Bl and
D1/D2; open space; landscaping and associated infrastructure.

(Councillor John Burns declared a non-pecuniary interest as he lived in close
proximity to the application site but remained in the meeting for the
consideration of this item).

Planning application DC/15/2151/0OUT had been considered by the
Development Control Committee on 2 March 2017 and planning permission
had been granted subject to the applicant entering a Section 106 agreement
to secure essential infrastructure. Members were informed that progress
towards signing the Section 106 agreement was proceeding well.

Page 11



The application had been bought back to the Committee because the
applicant sought permission to adjust the implementation period from three
years to five years for commencement of development and from 10 years to
15 years for the submission of details. The reasoning behind the request was
explained by the Case Officer as follows:

e The application site was still owned by a private individual and not a
development company therefore the land would need to be marketed
before any development could commence.

e The Officer’s decision to suggest a period of submission of details to 10
years was made in line with smaller strategic sites previously
considered around Bury St Edmunds and Haverhill, however given that
the scale of the proposed development was much larger than those in
comparison it was unlikely that all details would have been submitted
by the 10 year time limit.

The Case Officer also reminded Members that at the Committee meeting on 2
March 2017, delegated authority had been given to Officers’ to consider
alternative access to the site from that which had been proposed from
Chalkstone Way. The Officer explained that this had been difficult due to
issues related to land ownership, however those issues had now been
resolved and the amendment had been made. Some objections had been
received, however they related primarily to the scale of development and not
the details of the alternative access.

Speakers: Mrs Marion Farrant spoke on behalf of Kedington Parish
Council on the application
Councillor John Burns spoke on the application as the Ward
Member for Haverhill East

Members were generally in support of the request, however in light of recent
requests from Central Government for Local Councils to build an increased
amount of houses in a shorter period of time, a suggestion was made by one
Member to hold at least one part of the development site to the original
agreement to ensure the development does not delay the Council’s obligation
to build more houses.

The Case Officer responded to the suggestion and explained that if any part
of the site was held to the original agreement of three years then a situation
could arise similar to that had been experienced on the nearby North West
Haverhill strategic site where development had to commence by March 2018.
This proved difficult due to problems the developer had been facing in relation
to the amount of time it had taken to complete the transfer of land
ownership, the submission of details for the site and approval of Highways
drawings from Suffolk County Council. If development did not commence
within three years then the planning permission would expire and the
developer would have to reapply, therefore extending the time period for
commencement to five years would prevent that from happening and it was
not considered that it would impinge on early development of the site.

Following on from the concern raised, clarity was sought as to whether
approval of extending the implementation periods could be subject to any
forthcoming legislation that would require the Council to support an
accelerated delivery of housing. The Service Manager (Planning -

Page 12



Development) explained that it would not be able to be included as a
condition that the applicant would have to adhere to because it was not a
material planning consideration. If any such legislation came into effect after
approval had been granted it would not override the decision to extend the
implementation periods.

Other Members sympathised with the concern that had been raised however
stated that they would not want the quality of the proposed development to
be compromised by the pressure of having to adhere to a short time scale for
commencement.

In response to a Member query, the Service Manager informed the
Committee that extending the implementation periods would not have any
negative impact on the Council’s five year land supply.

The Case Officer confirmed that the implementation period of five years for
commencement of development would come into effect the day planning
permission was issued and the Section 106 agreement was signed.

Councillor David Roach proposed that the amendment sought be approved, as
per the Officer recommendation, and this was duly seconded by Councillor
John Burns.

Upon being put to the vote, and with the vote being unanimous, it was
resolved that

Decision
The amendment sought be APPROVED.
The Meeting concluded at 11.40 am

Signed by:

Chairman

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



r— Agenda Item 4
1 DEV/SE/18/001

%

St Edmundsbury

BOROQUGH COUNCIL

Development Control Committee
4 January 2018

Planning Application DC/17/2200/HH -
Welham Cottage, Ingham Road, Culford

Date 27.10.2017 Expiry Date: 22.12.2017 - EOT
Registered: 04.01.2018
Case Kerri Cooper Recommendation: Approve Application
Officer:
Parish: Culford, West Stow Ward: Risby

& Wordwell
Proposal: Householder Planning Application - (i) Conversion of timber framed

garage/workshop and first floor office into a residential annexe
ancillary to the main dwelling (ii) including addition of pitched roof to
rear and porch to front elevation

Site: Welham Cottage, Ingham Road, Culford
Applicant: Mr Edward Zipfel

Synopsis:
Application under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and the (Listed Building
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and Associated matters.

Recommendation:
It is recommended that the Committee determine the attached application and

associated matters.

CONTACT CASE OFFICER:

Kerri Cooper

Email: kerri.cooper@westsuffolk.gov.uk
Telephone: 01284 757341

Page 15



Background:

The application is before the Development Control Committee as the applicant is
an employee of West Suffolk Council until 22 December 2017.

Proposal:

Planning permission is sought for the conversion of existing outbuilding, which is
currently a garage/workshop/office, to a residential annexe for occupation in
association with Welham Cottage. In addition, permission is sought for the
provision of a pitched roof to the rear of the outbuilding and a porch to the front
elevation.

Site Details:

The application site comprises a two storey detached dwelling situated within the
Countryside of Culford. The host dwelling is set back from the main road in a
substantial sized plot.

Planning History:

Reference Proposal Status Decision Date

SE/11/0362 Planning  Application - Application 09.05.2011
Erection of single storey Granted
rear extension

SE/07/1592 Planning  Application - Application 19.11.2007
Erection of (i) two storey Granted
extension to side and (ii)
porch to rear elevation

SE/01/2110/P Planning  Application - Application 12.09.2001
Erection of (i) first floor Granted
level extension in

association with conversion
of bungalow to two storey
dwelling with associated
alterations including
demolition of  existing
garage and conservatory
and (ii) detached cart shed
as amended by revised
drawings received 19th
July 2001 reducing overall
height of house and garage
and alterations to design of
fenestration and  front
porch

Consultations:
Conservation Officer: No objection.
SCC Highway Authority: No objection, subject to condition.

Environment Team: No objection.

Page 16



Public Health & Housing: No objection.

Representations:

Parish Council: No objection.

Ward Member: No comments received.

Neighbours: No representations received.

Policy: The following policies of the Joint Development Management Policies
Document and the St Edmundsbury Core Strategy December 2010 have been
taken into account in the consideration of this application:

1.

Joint Development Management Policies Document:

Policy DM1 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

Policy DM2 Creating Places Development Principles and Local
Distinctiveness

Policy DM17 Conservation Areas

Policy DM24 Alterations or Extensions to Dwellings, including Self
Contained annexes and Development within the Curtilage

Policy DM46 Parking Standards

2. St Edmundsbury Core Strategy December 2010:

e Policy CS3 - Design and Local Distinctiveness

3. Rural Vision 2031:

e Policy RV1 - Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development

Other Planning Policy:

4. National Planning Policy Framework (2012) core principles and paragraphs

56 - 68

Officer Comment:

5.

The issues to be considered in the determination of the application are:
e Principle of Development

Impact on Visual Amenity

Impact on Conservation Area

Impact on Neighbour Amenity

Other Matters

Principle of Development

6. Policy DM24 states that extensions, alterations and self-contained annexes
shall respect the scale, character and design of the existing dwelling and the
character and appearance of the immediate and surrounding area. It should
not result in over-development of the plot of the dwelling curtilage.

7. Annexes will be permitted where the design and siting of the annexe is such
that it can be reasonably integrated into the use of the original dwelling once
its use has ceased. The size is appropriate to serve the purpose of an annexe
and utilises a structure that already exists, and its size, scale, location and

Page 17



design therefore relate satisfactorily to the existing dwelling and the
surrounding area.

The building to create a self-contained annexe already exists. There will be a
minimal increase in footprint to the current outbuilding and the curtilage of
the host dwelling remains largely unchanged. The building in question is
located in close proximity to the host dwelling and the amenity space and
parking is to be shared. In this scenario there is the potential for an adverse
effect upon mutual amenity if the annexe were ever occupied independently,
not least noting that the level of accommodation and services within the
building would allow for such. Accordingly, a Unilateral Undertaking has been
completed and signed by the applicant which ensures that the host dwelling,
Welham Cottage, and the proposed annexe remain occupied together as one
planning unit.

As such, on this basis, the principle of an annexe in this location and context
is acceptable subject to its impact.

Impact on Visual Amenity

10. The existing ancillary outbuilding is of domestic appearance at present. It

currently incorporates an existing external staircase to serve the first floor
accommodation, which at present is used for purposes incidental to the
enjoyment of the dwelling. This staircase is to be enclosed by the provision of
a porch to the front and pitched roof to the rear. The changes to the external
appearance are modest and it is felt that they enhance the building.
Therefore, it is considered that the proposed works are of an appropriate
design, scale and form as to be in keeping with the character and appearance
of the host dwelling and existing outbuilding.

Impact on Conservation Area

11.

The proposed development does not affect a listed building and is set back
from the road. It is considered it will have little impact on the character or
appearance of the Conservation Area as a result of the conversion and
alterations of the existing building to form an annexe.

Impact on Neighbour Amenity

12.

13.

The neighbouring property, Kiln Cottage is located to the west of the
application site. The annexe building is sited along the boundary furthest
away from the neighbouring property. The amenity space and access is to
remain as is.

Given the design and scale of the proposed development and the relationship
between the neighbouring properties, it is considered that there will be no
adverse impact on neighbouring amenity by virtue of loss of light,
overlooking of overbearing as to cause significant harm.

Other Matters

14. The parking on site will remain unaltered by the proposed development. The

parking spaces will be retained to the front of the dwelling and outbuilding as
to satisfactorily meet with the requirements of the Suffolk Parking Guidance
2014 adopted by Suffolk County Council.

Page 18



Conclusion:

15. In conclusion, the principle and detail of the development is considered to be

acceptable and in compliance with relevant development plan policies and the
National Planning Policy Framework.

Recommendation:

16.

It is recommended that planning permission be APPROVED subject to the
following conditions:

The development hereby permitted shall be begun not later than 3 years
from the date of this permission.

Reason: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990.

The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in
complete accordance with the details shown on the following approved
plans and documents:

Application Form received 23" October 2017
Notice Served received 23™ October 2017
Drawing Nos. TS112-01 and 02 received 23™ October 2017

Reason: To define the scope and extent of this permission.

The use of the annexe shall not commence until the area(s) within the site
shown on TS112-01 for the purposes of [LOADING, UNLOADING,]
manoeuvring and parking of vehicles has been provided and thereafter
that area(s) shall be retained and used for no other purposes.

Reason: To ensure that sufficient space for the on-site parking of vehicles
is provided and maintained in order to ensure the provision of adequate
on-site space for the parking and manoeuvring of vehicles where on-street
parking and manoeuvring would be detrimental to highway safety to users
of the highway.

Informatives:

1

When determining planning applications The Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 requires
Local Planning Authorities to explain how, in dealing with the application
they have worked with the applicant to resolve any problems or issues
arising. In this case the application could be approved, following the
agreement and signing of a Unilateral Undertaking.

This permission is the subject of an Obligation dated 11th December 2017
under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as
amended by Section 12 of the Planning and Compensation Act 1991.

Documents:

All background documents including application forms, drawings and other
supporting documentation relating to this application can be viewed online
DC/17/2200/HH

Page 19


http://planning.westsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=OY4A4GPDK1900

This page is intentionally left blank



T¢ obed

DC/17/2200/HH

Welham Cottage Ingham Road Culford

e

\mwt‘

a3

Twelve
Acre
Covert



This page is intentionally left blank



10-Z 1 ISL

alenbg pue [9A87 Ul
ONIMYHd LOVHINOD 00G:] -:9|eog WG ~/+ Ulypim aq 0} geIS

-:AoB1n00Y [2UOISUBUIC

pioj|n7) ‘peocy Mmols 1SoM
abenon) wey||am 1y 2HeIen JO UOISIBAUO))

610¢
6622
0026

_WL.O__N >_UCW>> @ —Um 21014 mO|_
103rodd

092t

avod MOLS 1S3am
ON'3714
uad UIMeN wooy oy Bunsixg Jo0|4 punoug)y Bunsixg ajejdsjog Bunsixg
J1vdJd HIOVYNVIN SLOVHINOD , B
1 75 1
31VJ A3IAOYdAY ] T —r \_er Foort— 7 torzt i Yoot
T T Fil ™ M [ T 1 _ T
£102/01/91  31¥C \ - i ; N
§ - U_o> 3 - 1804 JBquui ] WLgGLX 0SE
N e ) ;e | § N
2 - “ & = 3 “ —
. | el '
LV @ 0S/1 VIS & > A\ i ! G

12518 _mﬂtmcﬁ.\ " » 4 SIeIS 821G [euIsixT: X _

E 2 ] 1

L= ajing-ug L[ _

NV1d LIS ! J : ' peg omy !/ m m , abeies a|gnog w A
SNOILVATT3 ! i oy | | ; —
400714 DNILSIXT e A D - \\_ 5

|_ ~<._,m D 1 weag [315 Bunsixg m

|

1

1

PIOA

eid JsquiL ,,C‘_om_,xom_./

ool by , , -
NV1d FLS * s |
; | k. LS ST
L o Y 4 o ;v
} ]
rml. - |.“H|..i|”.l&..|.\.|i. ...!. - M mLO“w _wOm
: RN .Gh_
....,.T:.b ,u..u, <144 ﬂ._..U
By
ING .4
Mﬂu\.ﬁ.
! Jed=i ] QL A S e
. PASHRD e
_, ) ULhw - ... . \ - \__\ 00¥S J__.N
S| sL/g80/10 anss| Aleuiwipdd | 0d Y pFaiag e~y
: N
Ad| 41vd NOILdI|IDS3Ia | Ay e s

"SWel 4 I3 PIOM MBN
Jo uolssiwiad ay3 1noyiim pednpouadss aq jou
Aew pue 1yblIAdod 01 193(gns aJe sbuimelp asay]

‘Ayunyioddo 3ss1).led 3yl je sn 10eIU0d

asea|d ‘Buimelp asayl ulyim [ie3sp Aue jhode ygnop Ul j| ,
‘Aiorid |

Se pamo||0} pue 1YBhos og) 03 a4 S|IRISP |LINIOBIYDIY f
‘Ajuo sasod.ind

JAIEDIPUI JOJ UMOYS Bl S} Isquuil uou pue Aluoseul ||y
Juauodwod awed) sy

9Y3) JO UOIIDNIISLOD BYL SO pansst a4e sBuimelp assy |

FDNININOD SHYOM F¥0434 3LIS
NO d3»D3HD 38 OL SNOISNINWIA TV

3N"03°BWRIJIDGWIIPJIOMMIU@C UL
048Y 1L ¥S610 7L

1dE €290 “daysebplquie) o
‘uolxe’y ‘peoy uspsueln mN r ..O_NOW
dwelq Jaquil P|1OM M3IN

uoyeAs|g Jeay Hulsixgy uoneAS|g aplg Bunsixg uonens|d ol Buyslx3 uoneas|s apig Bursixg

wols 607 Buisixa

0 O

4 O UM RPN O B . -3 7Y P W I WO B (SUO SURH A N U NS RN M 0 M 0 1) R Y G | 1 S SR o o S CHRS S Y A B 00 5 A 0 D 0 \ T T

) )
Uith o 5018 = g xo:mu\

- SIE|S (9913 [RIBIKS

Buipiecg leyiesm - Bujpreog .aLj2epm
JequiL »2e|g PeUIEd loquiL yoe|g Falded:

BuipieiE 1aujeap
10quiL Y0t G PR

10 Pl e e 01

[T

B bl o 1 061 I P e
g b D R Y G 1 P

(o o o

L e 23 1 K e g ¢
3 6 53 2 (o] Pl 01 it B 3

ERSANanEs

\

1

1

=

=

[&
1T

0 b

T O

) 1 3uf 2 3
{
T
i b

CLCCC T (L

L 2 ) e 3 5 e

(& & &
! e i o

(Esa
) o 2o 15

k 14 58 02
CCCCCCCCC OO

L (¢
g G 5

L (B

ol

T
[
el it i 0 G
T
0 et 2 10 e
[ o o

CCCC O

$¢
X

T

) e e el B
L

CCCCCCCC

T,

OO
(A aaaaaas
L8 ot o ot ol

s 3
{
{

B s

T
1

ot 8 0

T
T,

1

T
(&
T

(&

<

T

Ll 00—

[4
) I St e It s o e e e §
7~

~
LLC

(LT &

(CCCCCL OO

g 1t 3 0 Dol A e s Dl 2 8 e 0 e o
B o 5 0 g e e e

CCLCCC T

B I 0 P D el D et el O

1 I 1 Pol I It Bl ™ 6 1 I S 2l i ) ] ol
FUTLCCL Ll

CCCCCCCCCCC OO
o e ol Sl ot e e e e

LT

e I e B o D Pl e e s e B e B ¢

O LTI
Dot Do e el e B e Do B

CL OO

1o 29 39
(O
UL LU ULi{((L
[ o o 6K 3 o M 4
T
e ol ol I ol o
[ AT A&

T

3

[ O B O S A O O O O O AL
CCCOCC L0

((((((((((IL(L(((L( B
C
(&

B 45 1 1ol e G T e e el o 0 348 546 3
[ EEEEaENEaEEEERE
CLCCCCC T CCCCC(

B 0 e 5 D Dk B B el s e e

CLOC LT C(((
T e s 1 21 L D ) St S s

4
Lauioq _w::m_xm.\

Sumedp Bulnjaenuew o) paeooid Jou og
wo HOOY,

WNOILLONYELSNOD,

panss| 8q o} sbuimelp pasingy ‘sjual
1Ins 0} pasiaal sl Bumelr ayy Bul
sniels Buimelp Buunioenuew o} peediud
.8 Uonoy,

WNCILONYLSNOT

1o} panssl aq 0} sbuirvizip paje|du.
snyels Bume.p Bulinjoenlew oy pasdiud
WV Uonsy,

uopjoy shiels Buimelq PHOAA MoN
‘JuswebBeuepy ubiseq uononisuos)

Page 23




This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Planning Application DC/17/2200/HH - Welham Cottage, Ingham Road, Culford
	DEV.SE.18.001 Welham Cottage, Ingham Road, Culford - Location Plan
	DEV.SE.18.001 Welham Cottage, Ingham Road, Culford - Site Plan


